

Original Research Article

Factors Influencing smallholder farmers participation in collective marketing and the extent of participation in Improved Indigenous Chicken markets in Baringo, Kenya

Abstract

Smallholder farmer collective action not only provides a solution to farmer's constraints such as lack of market accessibility and inability to take advantage of available market opportunities but also holds the potential to diversify their incomes and increase agricultural productivity translating to enhanced food security and poverty eradication. This research aimed at investigating the role of farmer marketing groups in smallholder market participation using a sample of 198 smallholders improved indigenous chicken farmers in Baringo, Kenya, using Probit and Tobit models. The study findings established that farmers' involvement in collective action is predominantly determined by; Education level, household size, distance to extension, cost of transport, and the price per chicken. Whereas the extent of participation in improved indigenous chicken markets was determined by; education level of the household head and farm size while negatively and significantly influenced by off-farm income and the cost of farming. The results of this study provide evidence that farmer collective action has the potential of strengthening market participation among smallholder farmers.

Keywords: chicken, farmer, participation, collective, market Baringo, Kenya

1. Introduction

Markets and improved market access are vital in enhancing rural incomes, particularly in developing countries (Ouma et al., 2010). However, smallholder farmers have continuously faced a myriad of challenges emanating from commercial exploitation, majorly caused by poor market and information efficiency due to long market supply chains, and low returns (Upton, 2000). Among the major constraints faced by smallholder farmers are high costs incurred in marketing and poor market access (Makhura, 2002). This is a reason why the Kenyan government and the private sector initiatives are supporting the formation and enhancement of collective action by farmers through the formation of farmer marketing organizations to enhance market linkages in a bid to overcome the challenges faced by farmers.

Formation and enhancement of farmers collective action is vital and emphasized since it is both a cause and consequence of development (Boughton et al., 2007). Farmer marketing organizations are viewed as a platform where farmers can gain bargaining power in the value chain, reduce their transaction costs through cost-sharing, and a mechanism to enhance access to capital and information (Kumar et al., 2011). Despite the potential benefits farmers receive from collective action, virtually a few farmers join the groups (Gyau et al., 2016). Agbonlahor et al. (2012) reported that the level of commitments and the intensity among the participants vary due to their different motivations to join the groups and the perceived benefits from collective action. This

Comment [ZE1]: What was your research population ? include it here 395 households.

depicts that there is more into farmer participation in collective action apart from membership decisions. Farmer's participation and the intensity of the involvement in collective action are important in enabling development practitioners interested in using collective action as a way to identify and assess the relevant services that benefit its members (Gyau et al., 2016).

In their study, Shiferaw et al., (2009), found that farmer participation in collective marketing decreased with per capita farmland, suggesting that farmers with small landholdings had a higher likelihood of participating in joint marketing. This is the reason why collective action is viewed as a breakthrough for resource-poor households in a bid to enhance their incomes and thus their welfare. Despite the benefits as mentioned earlier for farmer collective marketing and those documented by other studies, the majority of chicken farmers in Baringo county opt to market individually.

The main objective of this article thus, is to investigate the extent to which farmer collective action affects participation in improved indigenous chicken markets by smallholder farmers in Baringo. The identification of this impact will assist in developing policies or institutional innovations to improve the smallholder farmers' ability to be part of the commercial agricultural economy. The specific objective is to determine the influencing factors to farmers' marketing decisions, identify the factors that could contribute to increased participation in agricultural output markets, and make recommendations to support policy implementation.

1.1. Theoretical framework.

This research was based developed based on utility maximization theory. Farmer's decision on whether to participate in collective marketing or not depends on the weather through participating in collective action, a farmer receives a higher utility through group marketing as compared to individual marketing. Mercer 2003, notes that participation occasionally undertakes two stages; the decision to adopt or participate or not and the extent of adoption or participation.

Expected net utility a farmer derives from participating in collective marketing or not, given the farm, socioeconomic, demographic and farm characteristics.

$$EU_iP = f(W_i) + e_i \quad (1)$$

$$EU_iN = f(X_i) + e_i \quad (2)$$

Where,

EU_iP represents the expected net utility of household i from participating in collective marketing, EU_iN is the expected utility for non-collective market participating household i . P represents collective action participating households whereas N represents non-participating households. X_i and W_i are the independent variables. e_i is the error term.

Farmer's expected utility will then be compared as depicted by Eq.3

$$Y_i = 1 \text{ if } EU_iP - EU_iN > 0$$

$$Y_i = 0 \text{ if } EU_iP - EU_iN < 0 \quad (3)$$

As shown by Eq.3, the perceived expected utility from collective market participation is greater than the expected utility from non-participation for household i participating in collective

Comment [ZE2]: These look like theoretical background. If these is theoretical background, there is no introduction. Write your introduction and you need to cover the rationale of your research as well as the problem statement.

Comment [ZE3]: I don't think what you have here is theoretical, what you have here is more or less the analytical framework, which need to be part of the materials and methods.

Comment [ZE4]: Revisit this sentence is not readable.

marketing. Whereas the perceived utility for non-collective marketing participants derived from individual marketing is greater than the expected utility from participating in collective action.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study area

The study area was Baringo County, located in the former Rift Valley province of Kenya and about 270km North-West of the capital Nairobi, covering a vast land of 11,051.32 sq. km. The county had a population of 666,753 (G.O.K, 2019).

The data used in this study was collected from Mogotio, Baringo County, Kenya, between the period of April and July 2019. A multistage sampling procedure was performed to select representative households from the study area. The first step involved purposive selection of Mogotio sub-County, based on its potential of poultry production in the county comprising of six sub-counties. Improved indigenous poultry farmers were selected from the six wards of the sub-County using a random sampling method. The sampling frame in this study consisted of 395 households (Department of Agriculture, Baringo county). Based on Yamane (1967), the sampling size was calculated to 198 households by using Eq. 1.

$$n = \frac{N}{1 + N(e)^2} \quad (4)$$

Where n is the sample size, e is the acceptable error term (5% or 0.05), and N is the population size for this study N was 395. Trained enumerators collected the data used in this study from the locality. This was in a bid to overcome the challenges in language and due to their familiarity with the region. Both primary and secondary data were used.

Comment [ZE5]: This population should be part of the abstract

To determine the factors, influence farmers' decision to participate in collective action and the extent of participation in improved indigenous chicken markets in Baringo county, two types of data analysis were performed i.e., descriptive statistics and econometric modeling. The descriptive statistics analysis was presented in terms of means, percentages, ratios, and standard deviation to compare the socioeconomic, demographic, and farm characteristics of the sampled households. Probit and Tobit models were used in determining the factors that influence farmer participation in collective action and the extent of their involvement in improved indigenous chicken markets, respectively.

2.2. Determinants of farmers' participation in collective marketing

This study presents a correlation between collective marketing participation decisions and unobserved effects associated with the households, demographic, farm, and environmental characteristics. Due to the ordinal nature of the response outcomes, an ordered response model was applied in this study (Ye and Lord, 2014). Additionally, due to the unobserved effects, the resulting degree of collective marketing participation decisions are ordinal in nature. Ordered probit assumes normality and is invariant to the estimation difficulties associated with multinomial probit models that are more preferred to ordered logit models (Washington et al., 2010).

Farmer's decision to participate in collective marketing was considered as a two-level ordinate response from joint marketing (yes/no). To calculate the effect of socioeconomic, demographic, farm, and household characteristics (dependent variables) on farmer's decision to participate in corporate marketing. A propensity function or collective marketing participation decision function is defined according to Eq. 5.

$$Y^* = \beta^1 x + \varepsilon \quad (5)$$

Where Y^* is the unobserved propensity variable, β is the vector of the estimated parameters, x is the vector for independent variables. ε is the randomly distributed error term (assumed to be normally distributed with zero mean and unit variance). The ordered probit model can be expressed according to Eq. 6, based on the observed ordinal collective market participation data.

$$Y = \begin{cases} 0 & Y^* \leq 0 \\ 1 & Y^* > 0 \end{cases} \quad (6)$$

Eq.7 is then used to compute the probability of collective marketing participation for a given X (Christoforou et al., 2010), Provided that ε is normally distributed with a zero mean and a unit variance.

$$\Pr(Y = 0|X) = \Phi(-\beta'X)$$

$$\Pr(y = 1|X) = 1 - \phi(-\beta'X) \quad (7)$$

Where $\phi(\cdot)$ denotes the standard normal cumulative distribution function, $Y = 0$ indicates non (non-collective market participating households), $(y = 1|X)$ indicates yes (households that participate in collective marketing). Marginal effects were computed to uncover the direction effects where positive or negative is not clear. For continuous variables, the marginal effects were computed according to Eq. 5. However, for indicator variables, the marginal effects are calculated as the difference in the estimated probabilities with the indicator variables changing from 0 to 1 (Washington et al., 2010).

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial(\Pr(y = 0))}{\partial X} &= \Phi(-\beta'X)\beta \\ \frac{\partial(\Pr(y = 1))}{\partial X} &= \Phi(-\beta'X)\beta \end{aligned} \quad (8)$$

The model parameters were estimated using STATA 14 software. In this study, the fixed parameter ordered probit model was estimated.

2.3. Determinants of farmer's extent of market participation

Tobit model is a regression model with a dependent variable that can be either left or right censored (Tobin, 1958). In this study, the data was left-censored with clustering at zero because the extent of participation may not have been observed in all households during the observation. A Tobit model using a left-censored limit of zero can be expressed according to Eq.9 (Anastasopoulos et al., 2012).

$$Y^* = \beta' X_i + \varepsilon_i, \quad i = 1, 2, 3 \dots N \quad (9)$$

$$Y = \begin{cases} 0 & Y_i^* > 0 \\ 1 & Y_i^* \leq 0 \end{cases} ,$$

Where N is the sample size Y_i^* is the dependent variable, X_i is a vector of the independent variable. β is a vector of estimable parameters and ε_i is the error term (normally and independently distributed with zero mean and constant variance σ^2) From Eq. 6 above, there is an implicit stochastic index which is equal to Y^* which is observed only when positive. Thus, the corresponding likelihood function of the Tobit model can be expressed as shown by Eq.7

$$LL = \prod_0 \left[1 - \Phi \left(\frac{\beta X}{\sigma} \right) \right] \prod_1 \sigma^{-1} \Phi \left(Y_i - \frac{\beta X}{\sigma} \right) \quad (10)$$

Where Φ is the standard normal distribution function ϕ is the standard normal density function (for review, please refer to (Anastasopoulos et al., 2008). Table 1 presents the description of the variables used in this study.

Comment [ZE6]: Remove one bracket

Table 1: Description of variables used in empirical models and a prior expectation

Variables	Description	Measurement	Sign
Dependent Variables			
Prob (Y)	Type of household (Collective action participant/ non-participant)	Dummy (1=participant, 0=non-participant)	+/-
Extent of participation	Number of chickens sold in the market	The proportion of chicken sales	+/-
Independent Variables			
Age	Age of household head	Age in Years	+/-
Gender	Gender of the household head	1=male, 0=female	+/-
Education	The education level of household head	Education level (continuous)	+/-
Credit access	Household's accessibility to credit	1=yes, 0=no	+
Farm size	Total land owned by household	Acres	+/-
Cost of farming	Cost of poultry production	ksh	+

Cost of bargain	Cost incurred during bargain	Cost in ksh.	-
Flock attributes	Flock characteristics	Number of attributes	+/-
Off-farm income	Engagement in off-farm activities	1=yes, 0=No	+
Market distance		Kilometers	+
Extension distance	Distance to the point of sale	Kilometers	+
Cost of information	Distance to extension services	Aggregate cost of information	+
	Cost of information		

2.4. Justification for inclusion of Hypothesized variables

2.4.1. Age of household head

Age was employed in this study as a proxy measure of farmer's experience in production and marketing as a continuous variable. A study by (Mutayoba and Ngaruko, 2015, Barrett, 2008) found a negative relationship between farmers' market participation, whereas (Asfaw et al., 2012), presented a positive relationship. With this evidence, age was thus hypothesized to have an indeterminate relationship with market participation.

2.4.2. Market distance

The market distance was captured as a continuous variable measuring the distance between the farm and the poultry market where the farmers sell their produce. The poultry products are mainly transported using bicycles, motorcycles (commonly known as bodaboda), Previous work by (Lwezaura and Ngaruko, 2013) noted that distance had a positive relationship with collective marketing. Findings by (Makhura et al., 2001) presented that market distance influences both market participation and the volume of output sold.

2.4.3. Average price per chicken

The average price per chicken was included in the analysis as a continuous variable in Ksh (Kenyan shillings). Higher market prices paid to farmers enable farmers to produce more and thus increased market participation. Findings by (Omiti et al., 2009) presented a positive relationship between farmer market participation and their volume of sales.

2.4.4. Education

The education level of the household head, indicating the number of years a household head spent in formal education, was also used as a continuous variable. Previous studies on participation in markets have noted a positive relationship between farmer's level of education and participation in markets. This has been attributed to the fact more education translates to better farming practices, better negotiation, and contractual skills (Lubungu et al., 2012, Sigei et al., 2014). Education was thus hypothesized to explicit a positive relationship with farmer participation in collective marketing and the extent of participation in improved indigenous chicken markets.

2.4.5. Household size

Household size was included in the regression as a continuous variable capturing the number of members in a household. Previous research has depicted household size as portraying an indeterminate relationship with household participation markets and volume of sales. Studies by (Alene et al., 2008) presented that household size had a positive relationship with the volume of market sales, noting that the volume of labor supplied was greater than the volume of marketed output.

2.4.6. Gender

The gender of the household head was captured as a dummy variable depicting the sexual orientation of the household head. Previous studies have presented differing findings on the role of gender in participation in collective marketing, market participation, and the extent. Findings by (Doss, 2001) noted that male-headed households had a higher probability of taking part in markets. Similar findings were presented by (Mutayoba and Ngaruko, 2015). The gender of the household head was thus hypothesized to have an indeterminate influence on farmer participation in collective action and the volume of sales in markets.

2.4.7. Farm size

Farm size was captured as a continuous variable depicting the extent of land owned by the household. Farm size is generally expected to have a positive relationship with market participation. Findings by (Olwande et al., 2010) presented that farm size may have an indirect impact on market participation since it is often used as collateral for credit that is used in enhancing production.

2.4.8. Off-farm income

Off-farm income in this study was included as a continuous variable indicating farmer's income from other undertakings apart from farming. Farm income was hypothesized to have a negative impact on participation in collective marketing and volume of sales, an indication of household income diversification. (E Martey et al., 2012).

2.4.9. Cost of information

The cost of information was captured as a continuous variable in Kenyan shillings (Ksh), presenting the cost incurred by farmers in accessing market and production information. The cost of information is hypothesized to have a positive relationship with farmer's participation in collective marketing. This is because farmers pull together to cut costs.

2.4.10. Credit access

Credit access was hypothesized to have a positive influence on the extent of farmer participation in markets. (Randela et al., 2008), noted that access to resources such as credit and market information increased decision-making ability.

3. Results and discussions.

3.1.Descriptive statistics of variables

Farmers decision to participate in collective action, their determinants of participation and extent of participation in improved indigenous chicken markets are influenced by several socioeconomic factors including; cost of farming, highest level of education of household head, off-farm income, household size, age, market distance, distance to extension services, access to

credit, average price per chicken sold, road type, cost of transport, cost of transportation, gender of household head and cost of information. Table 2 gives a presentation of the descriptive categorical variables used in the study, with Table 3, presenting the descriptive statistics of continuous variables.

Interpretation and Discussion

On the issue of gender of the household head, the results of the study showed huge disparity in the distribution of male and female as shown in Table 2. About 73.2% of were male while 26.8% were female. This may imply that farming and marketing related decisions such as participation in collective marketing and the extent of participation in improved indigenous chicken markets may be dominated by male gender.

Majority of the sampled households did not belong to agricultural groups as represented by 72.7% of the total households. It was just 27.3% of the sampled households that belonged to groups. As a social capital, group membership is very key in solving common challenges that farmers face in their various activities.

Comment [ZE7]: Why no numbering here

Table 2: Descriptive statistics results for categorical variables.

Variables	Categories	Frequency	Percent
Gender of the Household Head	Female	53	26.8
	Male	145	73.2
	Total	198	100.0
Participation in Groups	Non-Member	144	72.7
	Group Member	54	27.3
	Total	198	100.0
Marital Status of the respondents	Single	38	19.2
	Married	143	72.2
	Divorced	4	2.0
	Widowed	12	6.1
	Others	1	.5
	Total	198	100.0
Age of household head	18-30 years	4	2.0
	31-40 years	22	11.1
	41-50 years	99	50.0
	51-60 years	61	30.8
	Above 60 years	12	6.1
	Total	198	100.0
Highest Level of education completed	None	20	10.1%
	Primary	43	21.7%
	Secondary	70	35.4%
	College	27	13.6%
	University	38	19.2%
	Total	198	100.0%

Household size	1-3 members	48	24.2%
	4-6 members	106	53.5%
	7-9 members	40	20.2%
	10 and above members	4	2.0%
	Total	198	100.0%
Type of Household	Non-Market Participant	64	32.3
	Market Participant	134	67.7
	Total	198	100.0
Ownership of chicken the past one year	Yes	189	95.5
	No	9	4.5
	Total	198	100.0

Source: Field Survey data 2019

Majority (72.2%) of the household heads were married implying that most of the farming activities may have been targeted to benefit a number of household members. However, some of the household heads were single (19.2%) while a few were widowed (6.1%), divorced (2.0%) or with other marital statuses (0.5%).

Majority (50.0%) of the household heads were aged 41 - 50 years. About 30.8% of the household heads were aged 51 - 60 years while 11.1% were aged 31-40 years. There were very few household heads aged above 60 years (6.1%) and 18-30 years (2.0%) as shown in Table 2.

Level of formal education plays a major influence in farming. Majority (35.4%) of the farmers had secondary level of education (Table x). About 21.7% had primary, 13.6% had college while 19.2% had university level of education. However, 10.1% of the farmers had no formal education.

Majority of the households (53.5%) had 4 - 6 members. About 24.2% had 1 – 3 adult members while 20.2% had 7 - 9 members. It was a minority (2.0%) of the households who had 10 members or more. The size of the household influences the expenditure on food and availability of family labor. This implies that most households could benefit from adequate family labor in their farming activities.

This study was interested in whether the sampled households participated in market or not. The results show that majority of the households participated in markets as represented by 67.7% of the households. However, about 32.3% of the households did not participate in improved indigenous chicken market.

This study noted that an overwhelming majority of the households in the study area owned chicken during the past one year (Table 2). This confirms the popularity of improved indigenous chicken farming in the study area.

The results in Table 3, shows that sampled farmers in the study area spent an average of 120.69 on transport (with a standard deviation of 109.85), 9,124.62 on information search (with a standard deviation of 317.95) and 358.08 on bargaining (with a standard deviation of 73.43). An average household had off-farm income of about 27,777.78 (with a standard deviation of

Comment [ZE8]: What is the currency here ?

6,640.85). The average price of chicken that households received 944.19 with a standard deviation of 63.54.

Table 3: Descriptive statistics results for continuous variables.

Variable	Observations	Mean	Standard deviation
Cost of Transport	198	1,270.69	109.85
Cost of information	198	9,124.62	317.95
Bargain cost	198	358.08	73.43
Off-farm income	198	27,777.78	6,640.85
Average price per chicken	198	944.19	63.54

Source: Field Survey data 2019

3.2. Factors influencing farmer's decision to participate in farmer marketing groups (collective marketing).

A probit model was used in analyzing the determining factors affecting farmers' participation in group marketing. From Table 4, it is observed that the log-likelihood ratio statistics, as presented by the Chi2, are statistically significant ($p < 0.0000$). This indicates that all the parameter models were jointly significant in describing the dependent variable. It was observed that farmer's decision to participate in corporate marketing is influenced significantly by Education level, household size, distance to extension, cost of transport, and the price per chicken.

The education level of the household head had a positive effect on a farmer's decision to participate in collective action. An increase in the level of education of farmers enables them to access better market information and new opportunities for the commodities produced. This is advantageous to their groups through widened market opportunities for their produce. The findings concur with those of (Olwande et al., 2010), whose study noted that education enabled farmers to utilize market information, thus, lowering the transaction costs, hence, increased market participation.

The size of the household had a positive and significant effect on farmers' decision to participate in collective action. This explains that the more the members of a household, the higher the probability of participating in collective marketing. With the high expenditure need for food and other items by bigger households, the need for creativity and knowledge acquisition increases a reason why they may opt to participate.

Credit access had a positive impact on a household's decision to participate in collective action. An indication that farmers who accessed credit had a higher probability to engage in joint marketing a factor that can be explained by the role of credit in enhancing farmer linkages to networks that improve access to information, technology, and inputs as observed by (Lerman and Stanchin, 2004). The findings are consistent with those of (Fischer and Qaim, 2012), whose

results noted that credit access had a positive relationship with a farmer's decision to participate in collective action.

The distance to extension services had a positive influence on the household's decision to participate in collective action. An increase in the distance to extension services was observed to increase the probability of farmers to join improved indigenous chicken marketing groups, as shown in Table 3. This can be explained by the need to reduce the cost of accessing extension services by farmers having themselves in groups and access the services of extension officers collectively through such activities as field days and demonstrations as compared to each farmer undertaking it alone. The effect can also be explained by the need of farmers to improve their need to enhance their access to quality information on markets and better opportunities on markets. The findings are consistent with those of Simon et al. (2015), and Fischer and Qaim, (2012), whose studies found that farmer's distance to extension services had had both financial, time and information access implications.

Table 4: Probit model results for factors that influence participation in collective marketing

Variables	Coefficient	Std. Err.	z	p> z
Age	-0.0311632	0.1448128	-0.22	0.830
Education	0.4974528 ***	0.1052542	4.73	0.000
Household size	0.0955818 **	0.0536469	1.78	0.075
Credit access	0.6536922 *	0.3167296	2.06	0.039
Farm size	0.0676123	0.0971848	0.70	0.487
Distance to extension	0.1915676 ***	0.0506732	3.78	0.000
Cost of transport	-0.0025553 **	0.0009483	-2.69	0.007
Cost of information	0.0000405 *	0.0000189	2.15	0.032
Off-farm income	1.69e-06	4.70e-06	0.36	0.719
price per chicken	0.0001677 **	0.0000709	-2.37	0.018
Constant	-2.140539	0.6819622	-3.14	

Comment [ZE9]: All tables are punctuated with a full stop why not here ?

LR chi2(11) = 58.38

Prob > chi2 = 0.0000

Log likelihood = -95.406741

Pseudo R2 = 0.2343

***Significant at 1%, **5% and *10%

The cost of information had an insignificant positive effect on farmers' decision to participate in collective action. The results showed that farmer participation in collective action increased with an increase in the cost of information, a factor that can be attributed by the need to pull together to enhance access to quality information on market dynamics, production, and new opportunities available for the farmers.

The average price per chicken received by farmers from selling their birds was significantly and negatively related to farmer's participation in collective marketing. This is attributed to the fact that higher prices translate to higher returns from the venture and thus farmers ability to market their products independently increases

Comment [ZE10]: How much ?

~~3.2.~~ 3.3 Estimation of factors influencing market participation and the extent of farmer participation in improved indigenous chicken markets.

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left: 0.1", No bullets or numbering

The Tobit model was used to evaluate the extent of farmer's participation in chicken markets. From Table 5, it can be observed that the likelihood ratio statistics, as presented by Chi2, are highly statistically significant ($P < 0.0000$). Thus, the model had a high descriptive power in describing the dependent variable. From the results, Farmers' extent of market participation in chicken markets was significantly influenced positively by the education level of the household head and farm size while negatively and significantly influenced by off-farm income and the cost of farming.

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Comment [ZE11]: 3.3 not 3.2

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

The education level of the household head positively and significantly increased the intensity of farmer participation in the market. This implies that as a farmer spends more years in formal education, he/she is better placed to identify opportunities in markets, market dynamics, and enhanced access to market information. The findings mean that the education of household heads is vital in enhancing market participation rate since it enhances access to acquisition of new techniques and ideas on agricultural production, translating to increased production and thus increase in market supply. The findings were consistent with those of (Lubungu et al., 2012), whose study noted that education is a factor that enhances understanding of market dynamics and thus leads to informed market participation decisions.

Farm size was observed to positively and significantly influence the extent of farmer's participation in chicken markets. This is because farmers with larger parcels of land are better placed to not only rear more chicken, but can also produce feeds from the farm to feed their chicken. This translates to increased production, which enhances farmer's participation in markers. The findings are similar to those of (Edward Martey et al., 2012), whose study on the

Comment [ZE12]: In the reference it is indicated as, Edward

Comment [ZE13]: Don't include the name in the citation but a surname.

commercialization of agriculture in Ghana noted that farmers' extent of participation in markets increases with the size of land owned.

Comment [ZE14]: What is this space for ?

Tabel.5 Tobit model results for determinants of farmer's extent of participation in markets

Comment [ZE15]: Why no punctuation here when others you have done so ?

Variables	Coefficients	Std. Err.	t	P> t
Age	2.72645	2.447721	1.11	0.267
Gender	1.766699	4.293448	0.41	0.681
Education level of household head	6.608227 ***	1.550613	4.26	0.000
Group membership	1.514982	4.421345	0.34	0.732
Farm size	2.642286 **	1.59081	1.66	0.098
Off-farm income	-0.0002617 ***	0.0000844	-3.10	0.002
Cost of farming	-0.014239 ***	0.0044662	-3.19	0.002
Cost of bargain	-0.0027782	0.0258057	-0.11	0.914
Cost of transport	0.0122009	0.0169775	0.72	0.473
Aggregate cost of information	0.0000461	0.0001957	0.24	0.814
Extension distance	-0.0999339	0.6190636	-0.16	0.872

Constant	50.73849	25.8722
Sigma	24.3823	1.578514

Number of obs. = 198

LR chi2(12) = 52.77

Prob > chi2= 0.0000

***Significant at 1%, **5% and *10%

Source: Field Survey data 2019

Off-farm income negatively influenced the extent of farmer participation in improved indigenous chicken markets. The findings were contrary to the expectation and thus implies that farmers in the study area did not invest their off-farm proceeds on improving farm activities but rather on other activities besides farming. The findings concur with those of (Edward Martey et al., 2012) who noted that there was a negative relationship between farmer off-firm income and agricultural commercialization.

Comment [ZE16]: In the reference it is indicated as Martey, Edward, please correct

Formatted: Highlight

The cost of farming was observed to have a negative effect on the extent of farmer's participation in improved indigenous chicken markets. The negative relationship implies that an increase in the cost of farming reduced the level of improved indigenous chicken production as farmers will opt to invest in other agricultural ventures whose production costs are relatively lower.

4. Conclusion and Recommendations

The marketing of agricultural products plays a significant role in enhancing the attainment of the overall goals of sustainable agriculture, food security, employment creation, and poverty eradication, especially among rural smallholder agricultural farmers. This study aimed at evaluating the role of farmer collective action in enhancing market participation among smallholder improved indigenous chicken farmers. The critical issues investigated were; the determinants of collective action and the factors that influence the decisions of farmers to participate in improved indigenous chicken markets and the extent of participation (number of chickens sold). A variety of factors influenced farmers' decision to participate in corporate marketing, including Education level, household size, distance to extension, cost of transport, and the price per chicken. The extent of farmer's participation in improved indigenous chicken markets was significantly influenced by; Cost of farming, Off-farm income, education level of the household head, and Market distance.

Comment [ZE17]: I think this is a different focus stick to your topic –indigenous chicken farmers not agricultural products

Comment [ZE18]: It would have made sense to me if you have taken few major drivers and conclude on them, as it is there is no conclusion. You have just indicated the critical factors. You have elaborated only three factors in the text namely education, and farm size. What about the household size, distance and market distance etc.

5. Policy implications

Market integration of smallholder farmers in the market-focused production and access to successful market participation has the potential to transform the rural economy through employment creation, income generation, and consequently eradication of food insecurity. Since agricultural production and productivity of smallholder farmers may not be enhanced by prioritizing the improvement of rural infrastructure such as roads, and transportation, because each variable affecting smallholder farmers in the study requires different policies, a new

Comment [ZE19]: Where is your recommendations as indicated in item 4 above ?

Comment [ZE20]: Where is the recommendation ?

paradigm shift is vital to step up the agriculture and development of agriculture in general. The approach should encompass not only supporting local organizations that promote smallholder farmer's collective action but also take into consideration the heterogeneity characteristics of farmers with respect to their gender and level of poverty. Enhancement of rural education and also infrastructural facilities are key in enhancing the success of farmer collective action's role in the enhancement of rural lives through employment creation, enhancement of incomes, and poverty eradication. The findings from this research further recommend the development of poultry processing structures such as chicken slaughterhouses, better handling, and storage facilities that are not available in the study area.

The results of this study support the United Nation's goal 2.3 in the vision 2030 agenda for sustainable Development of ensuring the doubling of farmers' income through the provision of employment and market participation. The study suggests that the National and the County government to not only enact policies for the smallholder farmers but also implement and manage them in an appropriate way to improve agricultural development and consequently the creation of employment opportunities, enhanced incomes, food security, and development in Baringo County.

References

- (G.O.K), 2019. 2019 Kenya Population and Housing Census Results. Nairobi.
- Agbonlahor, M.U., Enilolobo, O.S., Sodiaya, C.I., Akerele, O., Oke, J.T., 2012. Accelerating rural growth through collective action: groups' activities and determinants of participation in southwestern nigeria. *J. Rural soc. Sci.* 27.
- Alene, A.D., Manyong, V.M., Omany, G., Mignouna, H.D., Bokanga, M., Odhiambo, G., 2008. Smallholder market participation under transactions costs: Maize supply and fertilizer demand in Kenya. *Food Policy* 33, 318–328. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2007.12.001>
- Anastasopoulos, P.C., Shankar, V.N., Haddock, J.E., Mannering, F.L., 2012. A multivariate tobit analysis of highway accident-injury-severity rates. *Accid. Anal. Prev.* 45, 110–119. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.11.006>
- Anastasopoulos, P.C., Tarko, A.P., Mannering, F.L., 2008. Tobit analysis of vehicle accident rates on interstate highways. *Accid. Anal. Prev.* 40, 768–775. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2007.09.006>
- Asfaw, S., Shiferaw, B., Simtowe, F., Lipper, L., 2012. Impact of modern agricultural technologies on smallholder welfare: Evidence from Tanzania and Ethiopia. *Food Policy* 37, 283–295. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2012.02.013>
- Barrett, C.B., 2008. Smallholder market participation: Concepts and evidence from eastern and southern Africa. *Food Policy* 33, 299–317. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2007.10.005>
- Boughton, D., Mather, D., Barrett, C.B., Benfica, R.S., Abdula, D., Tschirley, D., Cunguara, B., 2007. Market participation by rural households in a low-income country: An asset based approach applied to Mozambique. *Faith Econ.* 50, 64–101.
- Christoforou, Z., Cohen, S., Karlaftis, M.G., 2010. Vehicle occupant injury severity on highways: an empirical investigation. *Accid. Anal. Prev.* 42, 1606–1620.

Comment [ZE21]: In my understanding the policy implication should talk to the findings that have been found to be weak in Baringo based on the cooperative marketing. what I see is the dragging of of issues tat were not even tested in the study such as job creation, infrastructure, or food security. Yes this is good but it was not found lacking in the study. If may to give an example what is the implication of the education of farmer households. It has been found that educated members of household are better to exploit the markets and its marketing dynamics. The government should continue to encourage adult education to capacitate poultry farmers. Poultry associations can be established to mentor poultry farmers. Etc You will notice that this is part of the study.

Rework your implications accordingly

Comment [ZE22]: This references are difficult to work as individually for example Reference 1. should be not be in bracket

Government of Kenya, 2019. If s accessed from a website indicate the website and the date of access.

Reference 2. The reference is not complete unless it goes with the next sentence, which does not need to be separated if this is case.

Reference : Yamane, T., 1967. *Statistics: an introductory analysis.* This is incomplete what is the source ?

Makhura, M., Kirsten, J., Delgado, C., 2001. Transaction costs and smallholder participation in the maize market in the Northern Province of South Africa. SOURCE from what ?? a book, article, or website ?

Makhura, M.T., 2002. Overcoming transaction costs barriers to market participation of smallholder farmers in the Northern Province of South Africa.

SOURCE from what ?? a book, article, or website ?

ALL journals should be italic

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic

<https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2010.03.019>

Doss, C.R., 2001. Designing agricultural technology for African women farmers: Lessons from 25 years of experience. *World Dev.* 29, 2075–2092.
[https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X\(01\)00088-2](https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)00088-2)

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Fischer, E., Qaim, M., 2012. Linking smallholders to markets: determinants and impacts of farmer collective action in Kenya. *World Dev.* 40, 1255–1268.
<https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2011.11.018>

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic

Gyau, A., Mbugua, M., Oduol, J., 2016. Determinants of participation and intensity of participation in collective action: evidence from smallholder avocado farmers in Kenya. *J. Chain Netw. Sci.* 16, 147–156. <https://doi.org/10.3920/JCNS2015.0011>

Kumar, A., Staal, S.J., Singh, D.K., 2011. Smallholder dairy farmers' access to modern milk marketing chains in India. *Agric. Econ. Res. Rev.* 24, 243–254.
<https://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.118232>

Formatted: Highlight

Lerman, Z., Stanchin, I., 2004. Institutional changes in turkmenistan's agriculture: impacts on productivity and rural incomes. *Eurasian Geogr. Econ.* 45, 60–72.
<https://doi.org/10.2747/1538-7216.45.1.60>

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Lubungu, M., Chapoto, A., Tembo, G., 2012. Smallholder Farmers Participation in Livestock Markets: The Case of Zambian Farmers.
<https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.140902>

Lwezaura, D., Ngaruko, D., 2013. Determinants of Transaction Costs to Farmers Participation in Groups from Mbozi District in Tanzania. *African J. Econ. Rev.* 1, 41–51.

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Makhura, M., Kirsten, J., Delgado, C., 2001. Transaction costs and smallholder participation in the maize market in the Northern Province of South Africa.

Makhura, M.T., 2002. Overcoming transaction costs barriers to market participation of smallholder farmers in the Northern Province of South Africa. *source ???*

Formatted: Highlight

Martey, Edward, Al-Hassan, R.M., Kuwornu, J.K.M., 2012. Commercialization of smallholder agriculture in Ghana: A Tobit regression analysis. *African J. Agric. Res.* 7, 2131–2141.
<https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR11.1743>

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Martey, E, Annin, K., Wiredu, A.N., Attoh, C., 2012. Does access to market information determine the choice of marketing channel among smallholder yam farmers in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana? A multinomial logit regression analysis. *J. Econ. Sustain. Dev.* 3, 18–28. *Source ???*

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Mutayoba, V., Ngaruko, D., 2015. Market performance and farmers' choice of marketing channels of high value crops in Tanzania. *Int. J. Econ. Commer. Manag.* United Kingdom 3.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Olwande, P.O., Ogara, W.O., Okuthe, S.O., Muchemi, G., Okoth, E., Odindo, M.O., Adhiambo, R.F., 2010. Assessing the productivity of indigenous chickens in an extensive management system in southern Nyanza, Kenya. *Trop. Anim. Health Prod.* 42, 283–288.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Omiti, J.M., Otieno, D.J., Nyanamba, T.O., McCullough, E.B., 2009. Factors influencing the

Formatted: Font: Italic

intensity of market participation by smallholder farmers: A case study of rural and peri-urban areas of Kenya. *African J. Agric. Resour. Econ.* 3, 57–82. <https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.56958>

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic

Ouma, E., Jagwe, J., Obare, G.A., Abele, S., 2010. Determinants of smallholder farmers' participation in banana markets in Central Africa: the role of transaction costs. *Agric. Econ.* 41, 111–122. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2009.00429.x>

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Randela, R., Alemu, Z.G., Groenewald, J.A., 2008. Factors enhancing market participation by small-scale cotton farmers. *Agrekon* 47, 451–469. <https://doi.org/10.1080/03031853.2008.9523810>

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Font: Italic

Shiferaw, B., Obare, G., Muricho, G., Silim, S., 2009. Leveraging institutions for collective action to improve markets for smallholder producers in less-favored areas. *African J. Agric. Resour. Econ.* 3, 1–18. [Source ???](#)

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Sigei, G., Bett, H., Kibet, L., 2014. Determinants of market participation among small-scale pineapple farmers in Kericho County, Kenya. <https://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.243452>

Simon, G.K., Margaret, N., Bett, H.K., 2015. Determinants of farmer participation in collective marketing and intensity of participation in indigenous chicken markets in Western Kenya. *J. Agric. Vet. Sci.* 8, 98–105. <https://doi.org/10.9790/2380-0810298105>

Formatted: Font: Italic, Highlight

Tobin, J., 1958. Estimation of relationships for limited dependent variables. *Econom. J. Econom. Soc.* 24–36. [is the spelling correct "J Economy" , source ???](#)

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Upton, M., 2000. The livestock revolution-Implications for smallholder agriculture: A case study of milk and poultry production in Kenya. Food Agric. Organ. Livest. Inf. Policy Branch AGAL.

Formatted: Highlight

Washington, S.P., Karlaftis, M.G., Mannering, F., 2010. Statistical and econometric methods for transportation data analysis. Chapman and Hall/CRC.

Yamane, T., 1967. Statistics: an introductory analysis. [Source??](#)

Formatted: Highlight

Ye, F., Lord, D., 2014. Comparing three commonly used crash severity models on sample size requirements: multinomial logit, ordered probit and mixed logit models. *Anal. methods Accid. Res.* 1, 72–85. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amar.2013.03.001>

Formatted: Highlight